IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

IN RE: DI SCOVERY LABORATORIES MASTER FI LE NO.

SECURI TI ES LI Tl GATI ON : 06- 1820
MEMORANDUM
Dal zel |, J. Novenber 1, 2006

This case, as well as the rel ated sharehol der
derivative suit before us in C.A No. 06-2058, arises out of the
col | apse of Discovery Laboratories' stock price in the wake of
problems with the manufacture of its flagship product, Surfaxin.
Plaintiffs, a putative class consisting of D scovery
st ockhol ders, all ege that defendants made fal se and m sl eadi ng
statenents in connection with the sale of securities in violation
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("the '"34 Act"). In
addition to Discovery itself, plaintiffs are seeking damages
against two officers of the conpany, Robert Capetol a, President

and CEOQ and Chri stopher Schaber, fornmer Executive Vice-President

and COO.
Fact s

Di scovery is a small biotechnol ogy conpany that focuses
on the production of renmedies for respiratory diseases. 1In

particul ar, Discovery devel ops therapies to replace natura
surfactants, which are essential to the lungs' ability to absorb
oxygen. Although Di scovery currently has no product on the
market, its |leading candidate is a synthetic surfactant,

Surfaxin, which would be used in the prevention and treatnent of



Respiratory Distress Syndrone (RDS) in premature infants.
According to the conplaint, sone other conpani es have surfactant
products currently on the nmarket that are primarily ani mal -
derived rather than synthetic. D scovery's stock trades on the
NASDAQ Nati onal W©Market under the synbol DSCO.

In April, 2004, Discovery filed a New Drug Application
(NDA) with the United States Food and Drug Adm nistration (FDA).
In Cctober, 2004, it filed a Marketing Authorization Application
(MAA) with the European Medicines Eval uati on Agency (EMEA), the
FDA' s counterpart in the European Conmunity. Both applications
were supported by two Phase 3 clinical trials: the SELECT trial,
whi ch denonstrated that Surfaxin was nore effective in treating
RDS t han Exosurf, another synthetic surfactant; and the STAR
trial, which denonstrated that Surfaxin was no | ess effective
than Curosurf, a pig-derived surfactant that is the nost commonly
used treatnment in Europe. |In the process of designing these
trials, Discovery had received conflicting advice fromthe FDA
and the EMEA about the nature of the trials. Because the FDA's
clinical guidance was bi ndi ng whereas the EMEA's was nerely
advi sory, and because the conpany | acked the resources to perform
the trials both agencies suggested, it elected to follow the
FDA' s proposed clinical format in hopes of obtaining both
approval s.

In addition to the clinical trials, Di scovery was
required to denonstrate its ability to manufacture Surfaxin in
conpliance with the FDA's current Good Manufacturing Practices

(c@Gw). Because Discovery |acked manufacturing facilities of its



own, it needed to associate with a contract manufacturer. In
August, 2003, Discovery announced that it had sel ected Laureate
Pharma L. P, an affiliate of Purdue Pharma L.P., to be its
manuf acturing partner. In Cctober, the two conmpani es announced
an agreenent to manufacture Surfaxin at Laureate's Totowa, New
Jersey facility. The manufacturing agreenent contenpl ated the
manuf acture of Discovery's product on dedi cated machi nery that
Di scovery woul d provide.

The Totowa facility had previously been operated by
Purdue itself and by another of its affiliates, P.F. Labs. Both
Purdue and P.F. Labs had encountered conpliance difficulties at
the site, receiving between thema series of FDA Form 483 reports
and two warning letters related to their conpliance with cGW.
The second and final warning was issued to Purdue in 2001.

On February 27, 2004, Capetola entered into a variable
prepaid forward contract (VPFC) to sell sone of his shares of
Di scovery stock. The contract, which paid him $4, 774, 639. 59,
required himto deliver between 377,825 and 472, 269 shares of
Di scovery stock on February 27, 2006. On March 18, 2004,
Capetol a entered into another VPFC, obligating himto deliver
bet ween 230, 784 and 300, 000 shares of Discovery on March 18,
2007. That contract paid him $3,159,000. On April 7, 2004,
Schaber entered into a VPFC to deliver between 171,562 and
205, 820 shares of Discovery on April 7, 2006, and he received
$2,311,359 in the transaction.

As part of its review of the Surfaxin NDA, the FDA

conducted an inspection of the Totowa facility. On January 21,



2005, the inspection teamissued a Form 483 to Laureate
identifying some problens with the facility's cGW conpli ance.

On February 1, Discovery issued a press rel ease announci ng that
it had received the Form 483 and outlining its plans to fix the
problens the FDA identified. Over the next several nonths,

Di scovery began maki ng plans to manage the Totowa facility itself
and began hiring executives with expertise in manufacturing and
quality control

I n February, 2005, Discovery received an approvabl e
letter fromthe FDA, stating that approval of Surfaxin would
occur once specific conditions were nmet. Approval of the
Sur faxi n NDA was now dependant on finalizing the product's
| abel i ng and renedyi ng the conpliance problens at the Totowa
facility. On July 29, 2005, Discovery filed its response to the
approvable letter, identifying the steps it was taking to address
the FDA' s concerns. |n August of 2005, the FDA responded, first
verbally and then in witing, that it did not consider
Di scovery's response to the approvable letter conplete. In
Cctober, Discovery filed a revised response.

On Novenber 3, 2005, Discovery announced that it was
taking steps to acquire the Totowa facility. |In Decenber, the
conpany entered into an agreenent with Laureate to assune the
existing | ease, retain nuch of the staff, and take over its own
manuf act uri ng operati ons.

On April 5, 2006, Discovery announced that it had
received a second approvable letter fromthe FDA requiring

addi ti onal renediation before Surfaxin would be approved. On
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April 24, 2006, the conmpany announced that some of its process
val i dation batches® had failed stability testing.? This neant a
potentially significant delay in approval. On May 4, 2006, the
conpany announced it had fired Schaber and that the executives in
charge of manufacturing and quality control would now report
directly to Capetol a.

Finally, on June 6, 2006, citing problens with
manuf acturing and stability, D scovery withdrew its MAA from
consideration by the EMEA. Neither the FDA nor the EMEA have yet

approved Surfaxin.

Statenents at | ssue

Plaintiffs have all eged many fal se and/ or m sl eadi ng
statenents during the putative class period.® Because we nust
determ ne which, if any, of these statenents have been all eged
with the requisite specificity, we nust first rehearse the over

two dozen listed in the consolidated amended conplaint. *

! These are batches of drug product that are provided
to the FDA for validation and testing. See 21 CF.R 8
820.3(2)(1).

2 Stability testing nmeasures a drug's shelf life.

® The class period runs from March 15, 2004, the date
that Discovery filed its 2003 Form 10-K, to June 6, 2006, the
date Di scovery withdrew its MAA

* The PSLRA requires plaintiffs to "specify each
statenent alleged to have been m sl eading” and "the reason or
reasons why the statenent is msleading." 15 U S.C. § 78u-
4(b)(1). Because of this, we need only consider statenents that
the conplaint specifically contends are false or msleading. W
will identify each statenent by the paragraph in the conplaint in
which it is quoted.



Statenment 64: In its 2003 Form 10-K, Di scovery stated:
"We recently conpleted two Phase 3 clinical trials of Surfaxin®
our | ead product, for the treatnment of Respiratory Distress
Syndrone in premature infants and are preparing to file new drug
applications with the United States Food and Drug Adm nistration
and other regulatory agencies in the rest of the world.” Conpl.
1 64. Plaintiffs allege that this was false or m sl eadi ng
because it failed to nention that the trials were conducted under
protocols discussed wth the FDA but not approved by the EMEA
Conmpl . 9§ 69a.

Statenment 65: Also in the 2003 10-K, Discovery
announced that it was inplenenting a strategy including
"manufacturing for the production of our humani zed surfactant
drug products to neet anticipated clinical and commerci al needs,
and sal es and nmarketing capabilities to execute the [aunch of
Surfaxin, if approved, inthe US. and in Europe."” Conpl. Y 65.
Plaintiffs allege that this was fal se or m sl eadi ng because it
failed to nention that the trials were conducted under protocols
di scussed with the FDA, but not approved by the EMEA, and because
Di scovery had failed to disclose the previous cGW conpliance
problens at the Totowa facility. Conpl. 1 69b.

Statenment 66: In the 2003 10-K, Discovery also said
"we believe that our engi neered humani zed surfactants m ght
possess ot her pharnmaceutical benefits not currently found with
the animal surfactants such as |onger shelf-life." Conpl. { 66.

Plaintiffs claimthat this statenment was fal se or m sl eadi ng



because Discovery "had not conducted sufficient stability testing
under [cGW] to support it." Conpl. T 69c.

Statenment 67: Finally, the 2003 10-K said: "All steps
required for production of cGW material have been conpl eted and
we are presently producing Surfaxin for our Phase 2 trial for the
treatnment of Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrone."” Conpl. { 67.
Plaintiffs contend that this statenent was fal se or m sl eading
because Di scovery had not disclosed the Totowa facility's history
of regulatory problens or the fact that the Totowa facility had
never been used to conmercialize a product. Conpl. § 69d.

Statenment 70: On March 16, 2004, D scovery stated in a
press release that it had entered into an agreenent with Laureate
and that "[a]ll steps required for the production of material in
conformance with current Good Manufacturing Practices (cGWSs)
have been conpleted.” Conpl. § 70. Plaintiffs allege that this
is fal se or m sl eading because D scovery had not disclosed the
Totowa facility's history of regulatory problens. Conpl. | 71.

Statenment 72: In the sane press rel ease, D scovery
announced the results of its successful Phase 3 trials and
stated: "We intend to use the results fromthese trials to form
the basis for a new drug application (NDA) with the [ FDA] as well
as for regulatory applications for approval in the rest of the
world.” Conpl. 1 72. Plaintiffs contend this statenent is
m sl eadi ng because Di scovery knew that its Phase 3 trials were
not sufficient to neet EMEA clinical requirenents.

Statenment 79: On May 6, 2004, Discovery issued a press

rel ease announci ng the subm ssion of its NDA to the FDA. It



continued: "The Conpany is also preparing [an MAA] to be filed
with the [EMEA] by the mddle of 2004." Conpl. § 79. Plaintiffs
contend this is false or m sl eadi ng because defendants knew t hat
t he Phase 3 protocols had not been approved by the EMEA and t hat
the studies did not satisfy EMEA clinical requirenents. Conpl. 1
80.

Statenent 81: In that sane press rel ease, Discovery
announced that it had "conpleted all steps required for the
production of [Surfaxin] in conformance with [cGW]" at Laureate.
Conpl. 9 81. Plaintiffs allege this was false and m sl eadi ng
because Di scovery had not disclosed the Totowa facility's history
of regulatory problens. Conpl. § 82.

Statenment 85: In a June 15, 2004 press rel ease,

Di scovery announced that the FDA had accepted its NDA filing and
had "established a target date of February 13, 2005 for

conpl etion of review of the Surfaxin NDA." Conpl. { 85.
Plaintiffs allege that this is false and m sl eadi ng because
approval of the NDA was dependent on Discovery's ability to
conply with c@GwW and because the conpany had not discl osed the
Totowa facility's history of regulatory problens. Conpl. § 87.

Statenment 86: The sane press rel ease conti nued:

"Di scovery is also preparing [an MAA] to be filed with the [ EVEA]
in the second half of 2004 for Surfaxin for the prevention and
treatnment of RDS." Conpl. § 86. Plaintiffs claimthis statenent
was false or msleading because it "failed to disclose the fact
that the Phase 3 clinical trials for Surfaxi n® had not been

designed to conply with EMEA' s clinical standards.” Conpl. { 87.



Statenment 91: On August 5, 2004, D scovery issued a
press rel ease that quoted Capetola as saying "Di scovery nowis
focusing on preparing for the commercialization of Surfaxin® for
Respiratory Distress Syndrone (RDS), if approved.” Conpl. § 91
Plaintiffs allege that this is false and m sl eadi ng because
approval of the NDA was dependent on Discovery's ability to
conply with c@GW and because the conpany had not discl osed the
Totowa facility's history of regulatory problens. 1d.

Statenment 92a: In that sanme rel ease D scovery said:
"The FDA has established a target date of February 13, 2005 for
conmpl etion of review of the Surfaxin NDA."°> Conpl. Y 92.
Plaintiffs allege that this is false and m sl eadi ng because
approval of the NDA was dependent on Discovery's ability to
conply with c@GwW and because the conpany had not discl osed the
Totowa facility's history of regulatory problens. Conpl. § 93.

Statenment 92b: Also in the sane rel ease, D scovery
said: "The Conpany is also preparing [an MAA] to be filed with
the [EMEA] in the second half of 2004 for Surfaxin for the
prevention and treatnent of RDS."° Conpl. § 92. Plaintiffs
claimthis statenment was fal se or m sl eading because it failed to
di scl ose that the Phase 3 clinical trials had not been designed
to conply with the EMEA' s clinical standards. Conpl. { 93.

Statenment 94: In its August 9, 2004 Form 10-Q

Di scovery announced that it had "established a Surfaxin

> This statenment is identical to statenent 85.
® This statenent is identical to statenent 86.
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manuf acturing line to support the production of clinical and
comrercial drug supply in conformance with [cGW]." They went on
to state that the manufacturing line could provide material both
for the "commercial -scale requirenents of Surfaxin"” in infants
and the ongoing Phase 2 clinical trials in adults. Conpl. { 94.
Plaintiffs allege the statenent was fal se or m sl eadi ng because
Di scovery had not disclosed the Totowa facility's history of

regul atory problens or the fact that the Totowa facility had
never been used to commercialize a new product.

Statenment 97: On Cctober 27, 2004, Discovery issued a
press rel ease announcing that its MAA was conpl ete and the EMEA
woul d begin review. The announcenent noted that the MAA was
"supported, in large part, by data from Di scovery's two positive
Phase 3 RDS clinical trials.” Conpl. § 97. Plaintiffs allege
that this statenent is m sl eadi ng because Di scovery failed to
di sclose that the trials had not been designed to neet EMEA
clinical standards. Conpl. { 98.

Statenment 100: On Novenber 4, 2004, Discovery issued a
press rel ease that quoted Capetola as saying "[o]Jur proprietary
surfactant technol ogy represents a new paradi gmthat we believe
will revolutionize the treatnent of respiratory di seases. For
the first tinme, nedical practitioners in the NICU can envi sion
surfactant products that are precisely engi neered to address
various life-threatening respiratory di seases -- and a conpany
capable of fulfilling a commtnent to this conmmunity.” Conpl.
100. Plaintiffs contend this statenment was fal se or m sl eadi ng

because the conpany had not disclosed the Totowa facility's
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hi story of regul atory problens and because it faced the risk that
it "lacked the manufacturing capability to bring Surfaxin® to
market." 1d.

Statenment 101: On the sane day, Discovery issued a
press release reporting the results for its third quarter
operations. The press rel ease descri bed a nunber of steps the
conpany had taken "to enhance the commercial and nedi cal val ue of
our Surfactant Repl acenent Therapies, beginning with the
potential launch of Surfaxin which is currently under review by
the FDA and the [EMEA]." Conpl. § 101. Plaintiffs allege that
this was fal se or m sl eading because it failed to nention that
the trials were conducted under protocols discussed with the FDA,
but not approved by the EMEA, and because Di scovery had failed to
di sclose the risk that it would be unable to manufacture Surfaxin
in conpliance with c@Gw. Conpl. { 102.

Statenent 103a: In its Novenber 9, 2004 Form 10-Q
Di scovery said: "W have filed a New Drug Application with the
FDA and a Marketing Authorization Application with the EMEA for
cl earance to market Surfaxin."™ Conpl. § 103. Plaintiffs claim
this statenment was fal se or m sl eadi ng because the conpany fail ed
to disclose that its Phase 3 trials were not designed to neet
EMEA s clinical standards. 1d.

Statenent 103b: The 10-Q al so declared: "W are
presently inplenmenting a | ong-term comrerci al strategy which
i ncl udes manufacturing for the production of our precision-
engi neered surfactant drug products to neet anticipated clinical

and conmerci al needs, and sales and marketing capabilities to
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execute the launch of Surfaxin, if approved, in the U S and
Europe.” 1d. Plaintiffs contend this statenent was fal se or
m sl eadi ng because the conpany had not disclosed the Totowa
facility's history of regulatory problens. 1d.

Statenment 104: The 10-Q al so stated that D scovery had
"established a Surfaxin manufacturing line to support the
production of clinical and commercial drug supply in conformance
wth [cGW]." It went on to say that the manufacturing |ine
could provide material both for the "comercial -scal e
requirenents of Surfaxin" in infants and the ongoi ng Phase 2
clinical trials in adults.’ Conpl. § 104. Again, plaintiffs
contend this statenment was fal se or m sl eadi ng because the
conpany had not disclosed the Totowa facility's history of
regul atory problenms. They also claimthat Discovery failed to
di scl ose that the Totowa facility was undergoi ng a change of
control. Id.

Statement 118a: In its 2004 Form 10-K, which was
rel eased on March 16, 2005, Discovery stated "[w] e believe that
our precision-engineered surfactant can be manufactured in
sufficient quantities, in nore exact and consi stent
phar maceuti cal grade quality, |ess expensively than the aninal -
derived surfactants.” Conpl. § 118. Plaintiffs claimthis

statenment is false or m sl eading because defendants did not yet

" Except for slight nodification of the |anguage
describing the clinical trials in adults -- which had by this
time progressed to a later stage -- this statenent is identica
to statenment 94.
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have a facility capable of manufacturing Surfaxin in conpliance
wth cGw. Conpl. T 119.

Statenment 118b: Also in its 2004 10-K, Discovery said
"we believe that our engi neered humani zed surfactants m ght
possess ot her pharnmaceutical benefits not currently found with
the ani mal surfactants such as |onger shelf-life."® Conpl. |
118. Plaintiffs allege that this is false and m sl eadi ng because
Di scovery "had not conducted sufficient stability testing under
[cGW] to support it." Conpl. § 119.

Statenment 120: In the sane 10-K, D scovery announced
that it had received an approvable letter fromthe FDA and
identified the conditions on Surfaxin's approval. The conpany
went on to say, "[a]ssum ng the adequacy of such corrective
actions and the approval of marketing clearance for Surfaxin, we
anticipate that the potential approval and commercial |aunch of
Surfaxin for the United States will occur in the first quarter of
2006." Conpl. ¥ 120. Plaintiffs assert that this statenent was
fal se or m sl eadi ng because of the Totowa facility's history of
regul atory probl ens and because the conpany "l acked sufficient
personnel with relevant expertise to renedi ate the Totowa
facility.” Conpl. | 121.

Statenent 122: The 10-K al so reported that the EMEA
had val i dated the Surfaxin MAA and had begun its review process.
The conmpany concl uded, "[w] e anticipate the potential approval of

Surfaxin for Europe will occur in the first quarter of 2006."

8 This statenent is identical to statenent 66.
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Conpl.  122. Plaintiffs allege that this statenent was fal se
and m sl eadi ng because the conpany had not disclosed that the
Phase 3 trials had not been designed to neet EMEA s cli nical
standards. |d.

Statenment 123: On April 27, 2005, Discovery issued a
press release on the status of its renediation efforts. The
docunent concl uded, "we remain on schedule to submt a Conplete
Response Letter to the FDA by July 2005. Qur organization is
committed to the antici pated commercial |aunch of our first
preci si on-engi neered surfactant product in the first quarter of
2006." Conmpl. 9§ 123. Plaintiffs contend this statenent was
m sl eadi ng because Di scovery | acked personnel with the proper
expertise to renediate the Totowa facility. Conpl. | 124.

Statenment 126: In its May 4, 2005 Form 10-Q Di scovery
reiterated that "[w]je anticipate potential approval and
comrercial launch of Surfaxin in the United States and potenti al
EMEA approval to occur in the first quarter of 2006." Conpl.
126. Plaintiffs claimthis statenent is false and m sl eadi ng
because the conpany failed to disclose that the Phase 3 trials
had not been designed to neet EMEA s clinical standards. Id.

Statenment 127: The May 4 10-Q addressed the
manuf acturing renedi ati on by saying: "W anticipate that our
manuf acturi ng capabilities through Laureate, upon successful
conpl etion and i nplenentation of its cGW Action Plan dated
January 31, 2005, should allow sufficient commercial production
of Surfaxin, if approved, to supply the present worl dw de denmand

for the prevention of RDS in premature infants and all of our
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anticipated clinical-scale production requirements...." Conpl. 1
127. Plaintiffs assert that this statement was fal se or

m sl eadi ng because of the Totowa facility's history of regulatory
probl ens and because the conmpany "l acked sufficient personnel
with rel evant expertise to renediate the Totowa Facility."

Conpl . T 128.

Statenent 132: Discovery's press release of August 2,
2005, reporting its second quarter results, said that "[we
believe that we are well positioned as a conpany based on the
potential U S. |aunch and European approval of Surfaxin in the
first quarter of 2006." Conpl. T 132. Plaintiffs claimthis
statenent is false and m sl eadi ng because the conpany failed to
di scl ose that the Phase 3 trials had not been designed to neet
EMEA's clinical standards. 1d.

Statenent 134: Discovery's August 5, 2005 Form 10-Q
filing included the statenent that "we have filed [an MAA] with
the [ EMEA] for clearance to market Surfaxin in Europe.” Conpl. |
134. Again, plaintiffs take issue with this statenent because
the Phase 3 trials had not been designed to neet EMEA s cli ni cal
standards. |d.

Statenent 135: In the August 5 Form 10-Q Discovery
al so stated that "[w]je believe that the quality systens and
docunent ati on control enhancenments that we have inpl emented
jointly with Laureate to support this response prepare us for the
FDA's reinspection of Laureate's Totowa facility."” Conpl. § 135.
Plaintiffs contend this statement is fal se or m sl eadi ng because

"def endants were not in fact satisfied with the renedi ati on
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efforts at the Totowa Facility and were working to obtain direct
control over it." Conpl. ¥ 136.

To sinplify our analysis, we note that there are
several conmon thenes running through plaintiffs' allegations.
Nearly all of the statements fall into one or nore of six
cat egori es.

Four of the statenents® are alleged to be false and
m sl eadi ng because Di scovery had not disclosed that the EMEA had
not approved its Phase 3 protocols. W wll refer to these
statenments as the "EMEA protocol" statenents.

Ten of them?® are alleged to be false and m sl eadi ng
because plaintiffs claimthat D scovery knew, but did not
di scl ose, that its Phase 3 protocols did not nmeet EMEA cli nical
standards. W will refer to these statements as the "EMEA
st andards" statenments.

Thirteen of the statenments' are alleged to be fal se
and m sl eadi ng because Di scovery had not disclosed past probl ens

at the Totowa facility." W will refer to these as the "Totowa'

® Statenents 64, 65, 79, and 101

0 statements 72, 79, 86, 92b, 97, 103a, 122, 126, 132,
and 134.

" Statements 65, 67, 70, 81, 85, 91, 92a, 94, 100,
103b, 104, 120, and 127.

2 Def endants present nuch evi dence in support of their
contention that Di scovery Labs' contract manufacturing facility,
the Laureate Totowa facility, is not the sane as the P.F. Labs
Totowa facility to which the violation letters were issued.
VWhile it is true that the evidence is generally of the formthat
we woul d be permitted to take judicial notice of in a notion to
dismss, see Inre NAHC, Inc. Sec. Litig., 306 F.3d 1314, 1331

(continued...)
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statenments.

Two of them?® are alleged to be false and m sl eadi ng
because Di scovery had not yet perforned adequate stability
testing to support those statements. Those we will refer to as
the "stability" statenents.

Four of the statenents' are alleged to be fal se and
m sl eadi ng because Di scovery had not disclosed the risk that it
m ght be unable to conply with cGW and m ght, therefore, be
unable to conmercialize Surfaxin. W will refer to these as the
"cGW" statenents.

Finally, three of the statenents™ are alleged to be
fal se and m sl eadi ng because Di scovery | acked the manufacturing
expertise to fix the problens at the Totowa plant. W will refer

to these as the "expertise" statenents.

2(. .. continued)

(3d Gr. 2002), because we nust construe the conplaint in the
[ight nost favorable to plaintiffs, we cannot discount these
statenments on that basis. Although it appears, as defendants
contend, that the two facilities were under different managenent
and woul d have been considered by the FDA to be unrelated, it is
not so clearly evident that we can say with certainty that

dism ssal of the clains is warranted on those grounds. Thus, we
will assune, for purposes of this notion only, that the Form 483
reports and warning letters at issue were issued to the sane
facility that was manufacturing Surfaxin.

1% Statements 66 and 118b

4 Statements 85, 91, 92a, and 101

'* Statements 120, 123, and 127.
17



There are al so statements®™ about which plaintiffs nmake
uni que all egations that these categories do not cover. W wll
deal with these statements individually where appropriate.

Wth these classifications in hand, we nove on to our

anal ysi s.

Legal Anal ysis

Plaintiffs allege that defendants made or failed to
meke statenments in violation of Section 10(b) of the '34 Act,
codi fied as anended at 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5, 17
C.F.R 8 240.10b-5. "To state a claimfor relief under section
10(b), a plaintiff nust plead facts denonstrating that (1) the
def endant nmade a materially fal se or m sl eadi ng statenent or
omtted to state a nmaterial fact necessary to make a stat enent
not m sl eading; (2) the defendant acted with scienter; and (3)
the plaintiff's reliance on the defendant's m sstatenent caused

himor her injury."' Cal. Pub. Enployees' Ret. Sys. v. Chubb

Corp., 394 F.3d 126, 143 (3d Cr. 2004). dains brought under
Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 nust neet the hei ghtened pl eadi ng
requirenents of Fed. R Cv. P. 9(b) and the specific
requirenents of 15 U.S.C. 8 78u-4(b), which is a portion of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 ("PSLRA"). In

1 Statements 67, 94, 100, 104, 118a, and 135.

'” Def endants do not chall enge reliance or causation in
their notion. Wth regard to public statenments and publicly
traded securities, courts apply a "fraud-on-the-market" theory,
whi ch assunmes that the market price of the securities
i ncorporates any alleged m srepresentations and therefore
reliance and causation may be assuned for all investors. See
Basic, Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U S. 224, 241-43 (1988).
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spite of these hei ghtened pleading requirenents, however, even in
a securities fraud case "[a] nmotion to dism ss pursuant to Rule
12(b)(6) may be granted only if, accepting all well pleaded

all egations in the conplaint as true, and viewing themin the
light nost favorable to plaintiff, plaintiff is not entitled to

relief." 1In re Burlington Coat Factory Sec. Litig., 114 F.3d

1410, 1420 (3d GCr. 1997). Thus, we may grant defendants' notion
only if, viewing the conplaint in the light nost favorable to the
plaintiffs, no statement can be identified that neets the

requirements of the '34 Act, Rule 9(b), and the PSLRA.

Fal se or M sl eading Statenents

We nust first assess whether the statenents all eged
were, in fact, false or msleading. "A statenent is false or
msleading if it is factually inaccurate, or additional

information is required to clarify it." Wallace v. Sys. &

Conputer Tech. Corp., 1997 W. 602808, at *9 (E.D. Pa. Sept. 23,

1997). Plaintiffs do not allege, nor does it appear to be the
case, that any of the statenents at issue were actually fal se at
the time they were made. Failure to disclose a fact, however,
can lead to liability under Rule 10b-5 "where silence woul d nake
ot her statenents msleading or false.”" 1d. Thus, the
al l egations here arise fromdefendants' alleged failure to
di scl ose facts necessary to clarify their otherw se (at |east
technically) accurate statenents of fact.

In order to state a claim then, plaintiffs nust, at a

m nimum all ege the existence of sonme fact, known to defendants
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8 whose di scl osure woul d have made

at the tinme of the statenents,
the statenent clearer or nore correct. They nust al so
denonstrate that, without this additional fact, a reasonable
investor was likely to be msled by the statenent. It is not
enough sinply to show that there is additional information

def endants coul d have provi ded that woul d have nmade the statenent
clearer. Plaintiffs nust also show that, in the absence of that
clarification, there was a substantial danger that investors
woul d be m sl ed.

Wth regard to the EMEA protocol statenents, plaintiffs
have failed to make this required showng. Unlike the FDA the
EMEA does not approve clinical protocols in advance. Although
t he EMEA may provi de gui dance or advice, EMEA clinical advice "is
not binding for the EVMEA or the applicant with regard to any
future marketing authorisation application of the product
concerned." Def. Br., Exh. 107 at 7 (excerpt from EVMEA
"Procedures for marketing authorisation"). Plaintiffs' clains
that Discovery failed to disclose that the protocols were not
approved in advance, where no such approval was possible, do not
state a claim

Wth regard to the Totowa statements, plaintiffs have
not all eged that defendants were actually aware of the FDA Form
483 reports and the warning letters. Al though they claimthat

"defendants had a duty to engage in due diligence," a failure to

® In some circunstances, a plaintiff can successfully
pl ead a securities fraud claimon the basis of defendants'
reckless failure to acquire information. W address that theory
in our discussion of scienter bel ow
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fulfill a duty to the sharehol ders woul d support a derivative

suit,' not a securities fraud suit. Because plaintiffs have not
clai nmed that defendants were aware of the information they
al l egedly withheld regarding the Totowa statenments, such
statenments cannot sustain plaintiffs' Rule 10b-5 cl ai ns.

As for the stability statenments, plaintiffs nmake only
t he bl anket claimthat Di scovery had not "conducted sufficient
stability testing" to support those statenents. Plaintiffs nake
no all egations regarding the stability testing that Di scovery did
or did not conduct prior to those statenents. They apparently
ask us to infer fromthe fact that stability subsequently was
identified as a problemthat defendants had not perfornmed

adequate testing. But this is the very essence of fraud by

hi ndsight. An omission "that is msleading only in hindsight"

cannot formthe basis for a securities fraud claim  Zucker v.
Quasha, 891 F. Supp. 1010, 1017 (D.N.J. 1995) (aff'd 82 F.3d 408
(3d Cr. 1996)). Because plaintiffs have not alleged any facts

known to defendants that they withheld, they have failed to

adequately plead a securities fraud claimbased on the stability
statenments.

A simlar defect exists with the expertise statenents.
Al t hough plaintiffs claimthat D scovery |acked the necessary
expertise to renediate the problens at the Totowa facility, the
only basis for their claimappears to be that the renedi ati on was

ultimately unsuccessful. Plaintiffs have not alleged that anyone

¥ Such a suit has been filed and is currently before
this Court.
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at Discovery was aware that they |acked sufficient expertise to
conpl ete the renediation plan successfully. Indeed, plaintiffs
woul d need to allege not only that Discovery knew it |acked the
rel evant expertise, but also that it knew that Laureate, its
contract manufacturer upon whomit would reasonably depend for
advi ce on manufacturing issues, |acked the rel evant experti se.

We cannot fairly infer such know edge fromthe subsequent failure
of renediation. Consequently, the expertise statenents cannot

formthe basis for a securities fraud cl aim

Materiality

Havi ng established that at |east sonme of plaintiffs'
clains all ege m sl eadi ng om ssions, we nmust now determ ne whet her
such all eged om ssions were material. "An omtted fact is
material if there is a 'substantial |ikelihood that, under al
the circunstances, the omtted fact woul d have assuned actua
significance in the deliberations of the reasonable

shareholder.'" Shapiro v. UIB Fin. Corp., 964 F.2d 272, 280 n. 11

(3d Cr. 1992) (quoting TSC Indus. v. Northway, Inc., 426 U S.

438, 449 (1976)). The inportant question is whether that
information, if disclosed, "would have been viewed by the
reasonabl e i nvestor as having 'significantly altered the "total
m x" of information' available to that investor.” Inre

West i nghouse Sec. Litig., 90 F.3d 696, 714 (3d Cr. 1996)

(quoting TSC, 426 U. S. at 449). Because the question of
materiality is concerned wwth the "total m x" of information, "a

statenment or omission is materially msleading only if the
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al | egedl y undi scl osed facts have not already entered the market."

Wner Famly Trust v. Queen, 2004 W. 2203709 at *4 (E.D. Pa.

Sept. 27, 2004).

Wth regard to the Totowa statenments, defendants argue
both that the information allegedly w thheld would not be
significant to a reasonable investor and that the information was
already available in the marketplace. W find both argunents
conpel l'i ng.

We begin by noting that in March of 1998, in addition
to the warning letter issued to P.F. Labs regarding its
manuf acturing at the Totowa facility, the FDA issued seventy
other warning letters. See FDA, Archived Warning Letters Index,

available at http://ww. accessdat a. fda. gov/scripts/w cfm

i ndexdate_archive.cfm Plaintiffs would have us hold that not
only were those seventy-one conpanies required to disclose to
their investors that the FDA issued those warning letters, ?° but
any ot her conmpany subject to the provisions of the '34 Act with
whom they entered into a contract for services in the future
woul d al so be required to nmake such a disclosure. Such a hol ding

woul d only serve to bury the material information public

20 1t seenms incontrovertible that this information
woul d be material to investors in the conpany who received the
letters.
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conmpani es currently disclose® in a flood of red herrings Such a
result would scarcely protect investors.

Second, we note that this is not the sort of
information that would formthe basis for a reasonabl e investnent
decision. As we noted above, in a highly regul ated industry,
war ni ngs such as those P.F. Labs received are a reality of doing
busi ness. Probl ens encountered in the manufacture of another
conmpany's product on different machinery in the sane facility do
not change the total m x of information available to a reasonable
investor. In an attenpt to prove otherwi se, plaintiffs note
that, on February 1, 2005, when Discovery Labs disclosed that the
FDA had i ssued a Form 483 report on its manufacturing process,

t he stock dropped over twenty percent. See Pl. Br. at 43.
Plaintiffs apparently hope that we will not notice the
categorical difference in materiality to Discovery's investors
bet ween problens in the manufacture of Discovery's flagship

product and problens in the manufacture of another conpany's

product in the sane facility seven years earlier.

Finally, we stress that these warning letters are
publicly available. |Indeed, the conplaint itself notes that the
warning letters and Form 483 reports given in 1998 and 2001 at

the Totowa facility "were readily available to defendants from

2 As it is, the press releases and SEC filings
produced by Discovery during the three-year period relevant to
this matter conprise nearly four inches of paper, printed on both
sides. See Def. Br, Exhs. 1-76. W shudder to inmagi ne the
vol une that woul d have been produced if Di scovery were al so
required to report on the historical difficulties of each of its
partners and suppliers.
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the FDA." Conpl. T 49. As we noted above, prior public

di scl osure negates a finding that material information was
withheld. "A notion to dismss may be granted if 'the conpany's
SEC filings or other docunents disclose the very information

necessary to nmake their public statenents not m sl eadi ng.

Wner Famly Trust, 2004 W. 2203709 at *4 (quoting \Wallace, 1997

W. 602808, at *10).

Plaintiffs contend that although the information was
publicly available, it was too difficult to find to qualify as
adequate disclosure. Their claimis that "[t]ying the FDA
Warning Letters to Discovery Labs requires an understandi ng of
the factual intricacies and detailed internal structure of the
Conpany's operations and its relationship with its contract
manuf acturer.” PlI. Br. at 46. The so-called "truth on the
mar ket " defense does not require that any investor should be
capabl e of finding the information and understanding its
significance based on a single click for a sinple Wb search. W
deal here with reasonable investors, those who we can assune

exerci se due investment diligence. *

When Di scovery Labs
announced its relationship with Laureate, and the FDA reported

that allegedly troubled history of Laureate's facility, ?® that

22 | ndeed, plaintiffs adnmt that they |earned of the
Form 483 reports from"a former analyst."” Pl. Br. at 22. This
is a concession to efficient markets that are quickly informed by
speci alists who make it their business to dig through publicly
avai |l abl e sources to informthe investing comunity.

2 |f an investor would need to understand the
relationship of Laureate to Purdue and P.F. Labs in order to find
the warning letters, that only supports defendants' contention

(continued...)
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was sufficient public disclosure to allow us to invoke an
assunption that the stock price reflected any adjustnent in
corporate value Discovery's new rel ationship caused.

For all these reasons, we find that the Totowa
statenments were not materially m sl eading.

Simlarly, we find that the facts required to nmake the
cGW statenments not m sl eadi ng woul d have been known to a
reasonabl e investor. Plaintiffs argue, in essence, that
Di scovery had a duty to disclose that, if it failed to conply
wi th FDA regul ations, the FDA woul d not approve the sal e of
Surfaxin. That should be obvious to a reasonable investor. The

regul ations are published in the Code of Federal Reqgulations,

which is certainly publicly available. Once Discovery disclosed
that it was awaiting approval fromthe FDA, it did not have a
duty to further disclose that such approval would require
conmpliance with published agency regul ations. Thus, the cGW
statements were not materially m sl eading.

Wth regard to the EMEA standards statenents,
materiality is also at issue. Plaintiffs do not allege, nor
could they, that defendants knew for certain that the EMEA woul d
not approve Surfaxin based on the SELECT and STAR tri al s.

| nst ead, they argue that defendants were required to reveal that

(... continued)

that the warning letters were issued to another entity entirely.
Al t hough at each | evel of renmove from Di scovery Labs'
announcenent the information becones nore difficult to uncover
its rel evance to Discovery Labs investors |ikew se dim nishes.
W find that, if the prior warnings were relevant, sufficient
public informati on was avail able to allow a prudent investor
readily to find them
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the protocols they had sel ected did not nmeet EMEA cli nical
st andar ds.

Plaintiffs do not, however, identify any specific
"clinical standard" the EMEA promulgated with which the Surfaxin
clinical trials failed to conply. Instead, they base their claim
on the fact that Discovery declined to follow the clinical advice
the EMEA provided. Plaintiffs apparently do not want to
acknowl edge that, unlike FDA clinical review, EMEA clinical
advice "is not binding for the EMEA or the applicant with regard
to any future marketing authorisation application of the product
concerned." Def. Br., Exh. 107 at 7. Thus, the decision not to
foll ow EMEA advice did not nean that Di scovery Labs was

abandoning its hope of marketing Surfaxin in Europe. *

| ndeed,
it did not even nean that the EMEA woul d not approve Surfaxin

wi t hout additional clinical data. Instead, the conmpany was
involved in a conplex negotiation with two different agencies to
design a clinical programit could afford to conplete that woul d
| ead to approval by both the FDA and the EMEA. These

negoti ati ons were just the sort of "ongoing discussions” wth

regul atory agencies that the court in In re Medimune, Inc. Sec.

Litig., 873 F. Supp. 953, 966 (D. Md. 1995) found drug mekers had

no duty to disclose. Gven the conplexity of these negotiations,

 Plaintiffs' own brief describes the situation as
follows: "approval would only occur if D scovery Labs was
successful in convincing EMEA that it should rely upon the data
that the FDA had accepted.” Pl. Br. at 22. dGven the current
efforts underway to harnoni ze the approval processes in the U S.,
Eur ope, and Japan, see Def. Br. at 20-22, this does not seemlike
the sort of situation that should | ead sharehol ders to claimthat
Di scovery behaved reckl essly or fraudulently.
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we agree with the Medi mune court that the | aw does not require
bl ow by- bl ow di scl osures of conversations with regul atory
agenci es.

It is, to be sure, true that the EMEA eventual ly
expressed sone concerns about the overall clinical portfolio
submtted for the MAA. See Def. Br., Exh. 101. First, although
it is clear that Di scovery was aware of clinical difficulties
with the EMEA application in June of 2006, it is far from obvious
t hat Di scovery knew about these problens in March, 2004, when it
made statenent 64, the first of the EMEA approval statenents.
Second, Discovery and its executives continued to believe that
t hey coul d obtain EVMEA approval w thout doing additional clinical
trials. Even in July of 2006, Capetola stated that he expected
t he EMEA woul d recogni ze the sufficiency of their clinical data
and that "there are no newtrials required.”" Def. Br., Exh. 81
at 18. But he noted that D scovery had no final word fromthe
EMEA on what additional clinical data would be required. Even if
approval fromthe EMEA m ght have been obtained nore easily if
Di scovery had done the trial the EMEA proposed, that possibility
is not sufficient to make statements as innocuous as "[t]he
Conpany is also preparing an [MAA] to be filed with the [ EMEA], "
e.qg. Compl. § 79, false or msleading. That statenent is
factually correct and plaintiffs have not alleged such a | ack of

good faith that we can find it materially m sleading. *

** |f Discovery had announced "we are certain that we
have conducted sufficient clinical trials to obtain EMEA
approval ," this case mght be different. D scovery nade no such

(continued...)
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Again, as with the Totowa statenents, plaintiffs
attenpt to show materiality based on what happened when the
information was finally revealed. And again they construct a
m sl eadi ng argunment with post hoc reasoning. They contend that,
because the stock dropped ni neteen percent when Di scovery Labs
announced that it had withdrawn its MAA, the EMEA statenments nust
have been material. That argunent m sses the mark. There is no
guestion that w thdrawal of the MAA was material. But there is
al so no allegation that D scovery w thheld that information.
| nstead, we are asked to find that the subsequent drop in stock
price proves that the disclosure that Di scovery had adopted the
FDA' s required protocol over the EMEA s recommended one was
material. Plaintiffs proffer no reason why we shoul d nmake this
link,?® and we decline to do so.

For these reasons, we find that the EMEA standards

statenments are not materially m sl eading.

Sci enter
The next requirenent inposed on a Rule 10b-5 claimis
that a plaintiff nust allege that defendants acted with scienter.

Under the PSLRA, for each alleged msstatenent plaintiffs nust

5(...continued)
flat-footed statenent.

%% | ndeed, the difference between the EMEA' s proposed
protocol and the one Discovery actually adopted was not even the
stated reason for the withdrawal. As plaintiffs note in their
conmpl aint, quoting the relevant Form 8-K, "[t]he decision to
w thdraw i s based on recently announced manufacturing issues that
Di scovery has now determ ned can not [ sic] be resolved within the
MAA review tinetable.” Conpl. § 177; Def. Br., Exh. 73.
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"state with particularity facts giving rise to a strong inference
that the defendant acted with the required state of mnd." 15
US. C 8§ 78u-4(b)(2). Plaintiffs may create that inference by
"alleging facts 'establishing a notive and an opportunity to
conmt fraud, or by setting forth facts that constitute
circunstantial evidence of either reckless or conscious

behavi or."'"' In re Advanta Corp. Sec. Litig., 180 F.3d 525, 534-

35 (3d Gr. 1999) (quoting Weiner v. Quaker QGats Co., 129 F. 3d

310, 318 n.8 (3d Gir. 1997)). It is not enough, however, sinply
to allege that defendants stood to benefit fromthe all eged

m sstatenents or had the opportunity to commt fraud. Advanta,
180 F.3d at 535. |In addition, "[motives that are generally
possessed by nobst corporate directors and officers do not
suffice; instead, plaintiffs nmust assert a concrete and personal
benefit to the individual defendants resulting fromthis fraud."

GSC Partners CDO Fund v. Wshington, 368 F.3d 228, 237 (3d Gr.

2004) (quoting Kalnit v. Eichler, 264 F.3d 131, 139 (2d Cr.

2001) (citation omtted)).

Plaintiffs' first attenpt to show scienter is their
claimthat the VPFCs that Capetola and Schaber entered into in
2004 supported a strong inference of scienter. It is unclear how
this could be. 1In essence, a VPFC is sinply a sale of stock for
which the seller is conpensated inmediately but is not required
to deliver the shares for some tine. They are called variable
because if the stock price rises before the date of delivery, the
seller is obligated to deliver fewer shares. Likewise, if the

stock price falls before delivery, the seller nust deliver nore
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shares. Thus, it was to Capetola and Schaber's advantage for the
stock price to continue to rise during the contract period
because then they woul d need fewer shares to deliver.

From a scienter standpoint, then, there is no real
di fference between the VPFCs here and any other sale of stock.
Even if, as plaintiffs contend, Capetola and Schaber chose to use
VPFCs rather than direct sales to avoid |large sales by officers
that m ght | ook bad i mediately before a public offering, see Pl.
Br. at 73-74, that reality would not affect our scienter
analysis. The fact that the transactions' formwas designed to
be palatable to investors does not lead to a "strong inference”
of fraudul ent notives.

Qur Court of Appeals has made it clear that it "will
not infer fraudulent intent fromthe nmere fact that sone officers

sold stock." Advanta, 180 F.3d at 540 (quoting Burlington Coat

Factory, 114 F.3d at 1424). 1In order to support a legitimte
i nference of scienter, the sales nmust be "unusual in scope or
timng." 1d. Here, the sales were made well before the first
sign of trouble and, although they are large, they are not big
enough to support a finding of scienter under the hei ghtened
pl eadi ng standard of PSLRA

Plaintiffs next try to find an inference of scienter by
| ooking at Discovery's generation of equity financing agreenents.
They point out that in order to close the $8 mllion in financing
that Di scovery nmanaged to raise, defendants needed to keep the
stock price high. This surely is the quintessential notive

"general ly possessed by nbst corporate directors and officers.”
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GSC Partners, 368 F.3d at 237. |t does not show scienter. To

say that Capetola and Schaber had a notive to keep the stock
price high is tautological. Directors work for the sharehol ders,

so they will always have a notivation to keep the stock price

high. Indeed, that is why officers and directors are frequently
gi ven stock options or stock grants: it aligns their personal
notivations with the shareholders'. That comonpl ace reality

does not lead to a strong inference of scienter.

Finally, plaintiffs attenpt to show scienter with
regard to the Totowa statenents and the EMEA standards statenents
under a reckl essness theory. |In 1979, our Court of Appeals
adopted the Seventh Circuit's definition of recklessness in this
context. A reckless statenent is one that is "highly
unr easonabl e" and involves "not nerely sinple, or even
i nexcusabl e negligence, but an extrene departure fromthe
standards of ordinary care, and which presents a danger of
m sl eadi ng buyers or sellers that is either known to the
def endant or is so obvious that the actor nust have been aware of

it." MlLean v. Al exander, 599 F.2d 1190, 1197 (3d Gr. 1979) ¥

(quoting Sundstrand Corp. v. Sun Chemical Corp., 553 F.2d 1033,

1045 (7th Gr. 1977)). The Tenth Circuit applied the Seventh
Circuit standard to a post-PSLRA case involving failure to

di scl ose allegedly material facts in Cty of Philadelphia v.

Fleming Cos., 264 F.3d 1245 (10th Cr. 2001). The Tenth G rcuit

" Qur Court of Appeals has cited MLean since the
PSLRA was enacted. See SECv. Infinity Goup Co., 212 F. 3d 180,
191-92 (3d G r. 2000).
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noted that "it is the danger of m sl eadi ng buyers that nust be

actual ly known or so obvious that any reasonable man woul d be

| egal | y bound as knowing." [d. at 1260 (quoting Schlifke v.

Seafirst Corp., 866 F.2d 935, 946 (7th Cr. 1989)). Under a

reckl essness theory, know edge can be shown by denpnstrating that
the fact "was so obviously material that the defendant nust have
been aware both of its materiality and that its non-discl osure
woul d likely mslead investors.” [d. at 1261; WIlson v.
Bernst ock, 195 F. Supp. 2d 619, 639 (D.N. J. 2002).

In the preceding section we found that neither the
Totowa statenents nor the EMEA standards statenents were
material. Even if one were to disagree with that finding, the
very fact that we were able to find the statenments inmateria
shoul d denonstrate that they are not "so obviously material" as
to allow a finding of reckl essness under the standard in Gty of

Phi | adel phi a.

The PSLRA al so makes cl ear that for forward-I ooking
statenents a reckl essness theory cannot be used to show know edge
that the statenent was false. 15 U.S.C. § 78u-5(c)(1)(B)

requires that, for a forward-I|ooking statenent to be actionabl e,

plaintiff nust show "actual know edge ... that the statenent was
false or msleading.”" Thus, for any forward-|ooking statenent, a
reckl essness theory will not substitute for pleading actua

know edge on the part of the speaker. As we note bel ow, nobst of
the statenents at issue here are forward-| ooking.
We hold, therefore, that plaintiffs have failed to

adequately plead scienter as the PSLRA requires.
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Optimsm

It is well-settled that "vague and general statenents
of optimsm ' constitute no nore than "puffery” and are understood
by reasonabl e investors as such.'"™ Advanta, 180 F.3d at 538

(quoting Burlington Coat Factory, 114 F.3d at 1428 n. 14).

Def endants contend in their brief that nearly half of the
statenments at issue in this case qualify as such "vague and
general statenments of optimsnt and are therefore not actionable.
See Def. Br. at 70-74. Defendants seemto ask us to find that
the nere inclusion of a word such as "believe" or "mght" is
sufficient to create a general statenment of optimsm W
disagree. W find that only one of the chall enged statenents,
statenment 100, is the sort of general puffery that Advanta
absolves. We therefore find that statenent 100 cannot formthe

basis for plaintiffs' claimbecause it is nere puffery.

PSLRA Saf e Har bor

The PSLRA creates a safe harbor for conpanies' forward-
| ooki ng statenents. Subject to exceptions not relevant here, the
saf e harbor protects conpanies fromliability for any statenent
that is "identified as a forward-1ooking statenent, and is
acconpani ed by neani ngful cautionary statenents identifying
i mportant factors that could cause actual results to differ
materially fromthose in the forward-|ooking statenent.” 15
U S . C 8§ 78u-5(c)(1)(A)(i).

Bef ore we exam ne the particul ar statenents here, we

must establish both what constitutes a forward-|ooking statenent
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and what will suffice for meaningful cautionary |anguage. The
statute defines a forward-looking statenment, in relevant part, *°
as "a statenent of the plans and objectives of managenent for
future operations, including plans or objectives relating to the
products or services of the issuer,” 15 U.S.C. 8 78u-5(i)(1)(B),
or "any statement of the assunptions underlying or relating to"
such a statenent, 15 U.S.C. 8 78u-5(i)(1)(D. The Eleventh
Circuit has placed a useful gloss on this | anguage, noting that
"a statement about the state of a conpany whose truth or falsity

is discernible only after it is nade necessarily refers only to

future performance.” Harris v. lvax Corp., 182 F.3d 799, 805

(12th Cr. 1999). Thus, even a statenent of present fact may
becone a forward-|ooking statement if a plaintiff's sole
al l egation of falsity is based on the existence of some future
risk of failure. |If a statenent contains both present factual
i nformati on and forward-I|ooking information, we | ook at
plaintiffs' allegation of the statement's fal sehood and deterni ne
whether, in light of that allegation, the alleged falsity arises
fromthe factual or the forward-|ooking aspects of the statenent.
If plaintiffs' allegation is rooted in the factual portion of the
statenment, the safe harbor will not protect it.

The required cautionary | anguage nust "relate directly

to that by which plaintiffs claimto have been msled.” Kline v.

*® The definition of forward-looking statements is
| argely focused on financial predictions. Although those are
frequently at issue in securities fraud cases, there is no
al l egation of msleading financial information in this case, so
we need deal only with statenments of corporate plans or
obj ecti ves.
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First W Gov't Sec., Inc., 24 F.3d 480, 489 (3d G r. 1994). The

| anguage nust be "substantive and tail ored” and cannot be nere

boilerplate. In re Donald J. Trunp Casino Sec. Litig., 7 F.3d

357, 371 (3d Gr. 1993). The | anguage need not be exhausti ve.
See Harris, 182 F.3d at 807. So long as the |anguage

meani ngful | y comuni cates to a potential investor the possibility
that the predictions may not come to fruition and an
under st andi ng of what would cause this result, it suffices.

Each of the statements plaintiffs point to was
acconpani ed by | anguage nentioning both that sonme of the
statenents were forward-I|ooking and that those predictions m ght
not be realized due to certain risks. The list of likely risks
changed over tine and fromone press release to another,
undoubtedly in an attenpt to nake the cautionary |anguage
"substantive and tailored.” This is not the sort of "vague or
bl anket (boilerplate) disclainer which nerely warns the reader
that the investnent has risks.” Kline, 24 F.3d at 489 (quoting
Trunp, 7 F.3d at 371).

It is clear fromthe addition of the safe harbor
provi sions that Congress intended the PSLRA to all ow conpanies to
make forward-|ooking statenents while insulating thenselves from
liability. |If that intention is to be given any life at all, we
must find as we do here that, where an allegedly fal se statenent
is forward-Iooking and where it is acconpani ed by rel evant and
meani ngf ul cautionary | anguage, defendants are insul ated from
liability based on the failure of the statement's expectations to

conme to pass.
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Based on this analysis, we find that the PSLRA safe
har bor covers statenents 64, 65, 72, 79, 85, 86, 91, 92a, 92b,
97, 101, 103a, 103b, 118a, 120, 122, 123, 126, 127, 132, and 134.

These statenments cannot support plaintiffs' clains.

The 20(a) d aim

In addition to their Rule 10b-5 clains, plaintiffs also
assert violations by controlling persons under Section 20(a) of
the '"34 Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a). Because a claimfor controlling
person liability requires "proof of a separate underlying
violation of the Exchange Act," Advanta, 180 F.3d at 541, and
because we have found that no such underlying violation has been
properly alleged, we will also dismss plaintiffs' Section 20(a)

claim

Concl usi on

For all but four of the allegedly false or m sl eading

st at ement s, ?°

we have identified specific reasons why those
statenments cannot formthe basis of a claimunder Rule 10b-5. In
addi tion, we have found that plaintiffs have failed to nake the
al | egations of scienter that the PSLRA requires. Because the
PSLRA' s pl eadi ng requirenents are high and otherw se worthy
clainms may occasionally get swept up in the broad net of

securities reform courts are generally inclined to liberally

grant |l eave to amend a securities conplaint. See Burlington Coat

Factory, 114 F.3d at 1435. W see no reason to deny that

2 The remmi ning statenments are 67, 94, 104, and 135.
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liberality here, and so offer one last bite at the apple.
Plaintiffs may, if they are able to further refine their clains
(particularly with regard to scienter), anmend their conplaint by

mont h' s end.

BY THE COURT:

/sl Stewart Dal zell, J.
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I N THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

I N RE: DI SCOVERY LABORATORI ES : MASTER FI LE NO
SECURI TI ES LI TI GATI ON ) 06- 1820

ORDER

AND NOW this 1st day of Novenber, 2006, upon
consi deration of defendants' motion to dism ss (docket entry #
43), plaintiffs' response (docket entry # 45), and defendants’
reply (docket entry # 47) and for the reasons articulated in the
acconpanyi ng Menorandum of Law, it is hereby ORDERED t hat:

1. Def endants' notion to dism ss i s GRANTED,

2. Plaintiffs' consolidated amended conplaint is
DI SM SSED; and

3. Plaintiffs may FILE a consolidated second amended

conpl ai nt by Novenber 30, 2006.

BY THE COURT:

/sl Stewart Dal zell, J.




